# **Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons**

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

# State of Utah v. Anastacio Gallegos and Juan Balles Gallegos: Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

#### NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a criminal action. The brother Appellants were charged jointly with Murder In the First Degree (76-30-3, U.C.A., 1953).

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to a jury of 12 men in the District Court of Salt Lake County. Judge Ray Van Cott, Jr. presided.

The Appellants were convicted of the included offense of Murder In the Second Degree (76-30-3, U.C.A., 1953) and appealed.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Appellants seek reversal of the judgments and dissmal of the informations, or, that failing, a new trial.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

At about the hour of 12:30 a.m., August 11, 1963, on the sidewalk near the Annex Bar, 666 South State Street, Salt Lake City, Utah, Raul Yanes was killed as a result of having been stabbed.

Mike Hoopiiana was the sole eye witness to testify to the *scuffle* (T. 182) which resulted in death. He testified that he *thought* (T. 181) it was the Appellant, Juan Ralles Gallegos, hereinafter to be referred to as Ray, who held him at knife point to *stay out* (T. 181) of the *scuffle* (T. 181) *around the corner* (T. 190) between Yanes and whom he *thought* (T. 183) to be the Appellant Auastacio Gallegos, hereinafter to be referred to as Ted.

Hoopiiana testified that he didn't see how the scuffle started (T. 190) but that towards the end of it he thought (not too sure: T. 183) it was Ted who stabbed Yanes in the heart (T. 182) three times (T. 184) and Ray who stabbed him in the back (T. 204), from 4-6 feet away (T. 182), from a distance beyond where his arms could extend (T. 188), while 2 or 3 other idle possessors of knives stood as closely by as himself (T. 188) but did nothing (T. 184) and were not identified by him (T. 189), although the same circumstances and powers of perception were presently available in equal proportion for him to observe the others as well as Appellants.) (T. 189) Actually Yanes had but 2 wounds, with none in the back. Hoopiiana was confused and drunk (T. 191); took but one glance (T. 189); saw no faces (T. 183), no marks of identity (T. 189), etc., as is to be noted in more detail in discusion of Point II.

The state relied on a Dick Jerome being with the Appellants that night (T. 111). Hoopiiana knows him (T. 189) but gave no identifying testimony of his being present. *If* he had been there he would have seen him (T. 189).

Jerome. Yanes and both Appellants are Mexicans; Hoopiana is Hawaiian; and all had been to some of the same bars (El Prado, etc.); but Appellants were steadily employed (Ray at Hill Air Froce Base and Ted a barber) while Hoopiana was an unemployed felon on parole and Yanes on welfare.

Hoopiana testified that he entered the Annex Bar after Yanes was stabbed (T. 184) to get his mind straight (T. 204) before walking away from his positively dead

friend (T. 204) on his way to the Blackhawk Lounge to establish his alibi (T. 192)

Hoopiiana, though unemployed, (T. 186), still had a valuable friend in his dedicated lawyer who has served so well, for long, for so little. SO He him Sunday evening )almost 24 hours after was killed) and was advised he could be charged with murder (T. 196). At that time Hoopiiana did not tell his lawyer that the Appellants had knifed Yanes (T. 210). An appointment for the next morning was made between the two, the result of which was (for the first time) Hoopiiana pointed the finger of blame toward the Appellants (as his bargained-for consideration, in return for promises from the law enforcement agencies: of exoneration for his implication in the death and his flight from the scene to conceal such; termination of his parole; and his feeling of importance and acceptance by those in authority, who had heretofore chased, caught, convicted and condemned him throughout his crime-crowded life. (Hoopiiana must have immediately recognized his "take" to be in excess of the paltry, proverbial 30 pieces of silver. God's mills turn slowly. But not His people.)

Other pertinent facts shall be referred to as they become applicable to the points of law hereinafter discussed.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

PREJUDICIAL ERROR RESULTED IN DENIAL OF DUE PROCESS OF LAW BY OMISSION OF ELEMENT OF INTENT FROM VOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER IN INSTRUCTION NO. 11.

The trial court's given Instruction No. 11, to which the appellant excepted (T. 287), stated the necessary elements to be proved for a guilty verdict of voluntary manslaughter, an included offense charged. In short effect, those elements are listed below:

- 1. . . . defendants killed the deceased . . .
- 2. . . . killing was unlawful . . .
- 3. . . . killing was *voluntary* upon a sudden quarrel or in the heat of passion . . .
  - 4. . . . killing was without malice . . .

Voluntary Manslaughter is defined in 76-30-5, U.C.A., 1953, as being the unlawful killing of a human being without malice upon a sudden quarrel or in the heat of passion.

This statutory definition is but declaratory of the common law. At common law, to constitute voluntary manslaughter the *killing* must be *willful or intentional*, or there must exist an *intention* at least to do great bodily harm. The *intention* may be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon or from other and additional evidence. (29 C. J. 1128, Sec. 116, and cases cited; 13 R.C.L. 785, Sec. 90, and cases cited. May be inferred or not, intent must be an element to be present before guilt.

Our statute was copied from California, where it has been held that in order to constitute voluntary manslaughter, the *intent to kill must exist*. (People v. Miller, 114 Cal. App. 293, 299 P. 742.) In construing an identical statute, the Supreme Court of Arizona held that an *intent to kill* 

was a necessary element of voluntary manslaughter. (Harding v. State, 26 Ariz. 334, 225 P.482.)

This court held in State v. Cobo, 90 U. 89, 60 P.2d 952, cited in 26 Am. Jur. 167, fn. 11 and in 44 Words and Phrases 412, that the omission from the instruction on voluntary manslaughter that the killing must have been willful or intentional, or that death must have been the result of willful and intentional infliction of great bodily harm, amounted to prejudical error, notwithstanding the definition in another instruction of voluntary manslaughter as the intentional killing upon a sudden quarrel or in the heat of passion, and notwithstanding the failure of counsel to except thereto.

Although, relative to the failure to except (or request), the rule of the *Cobo Case*, supra, has become more stringent, (State v. Mitchell, 3 U. 2d 70, 278 P.2d 621, (8)) its requirement that the killing be intentional remains firm. (State v. Trujillo, .... U. ....214 P.2d 634 (8); (State v. Jensen, .... U. ....; 236 P.2d 448 (8)). And it is supported by the great weight of authority, e.g.:

Pixley v. State, 203 Ark. 42, 155 S.W. 2d 713; State v. Clark, Mo. Sup., 111 S.W. 2d 101; State v. Carter, 345 Mo. 74, 131 S.W. 2d 546; Comm. v. Lisowski, 274 Pa. 222, 117A. 794; Comm. v. Guida, 208 Pa. 370, 148A. 501; State v. Heinz, 223 Iowa 1241, 275 N.M. 10, 114A. L. R. 959; Mixon v. State, in 7 Ga. App. 805, 68 S.W. 315; Hawpe v. Comm., 234 Ky. 7, 27 S.W.2d 394; Harrington v. State, 83 Ala. 9, 3 So. 425; Ketring v. State, in 209 Ind. 618, 200 N.E. 212; State v. Pond, 125 Me. 453, 139A. 572; United States v. King, 34 F. 302, 309; State v. Crawford, 66 W. Va. 114, 66 S.E. 110; I Wharton's Criminal Law and Procedure 580-583, citing many cases.

The trial court's given Instruction No. 12 states that the law presumes that a person intends the ordinary, natural and probably consequences of his voluntary acts, though no definition of the word voluntary appears anywhere throughout the instructions.

By that, are we to presume a necessary element (intent to kill) without proof beyond a reasonable doubt? Hardly! All presumptions, independent of evidence, are in favor of innocence, not guilt. Evidence is necessary to prove intent et al elements of a crime. And the jury may infer... not not presume...

Or, are we led to presume that the words voluntary and intentional or willful are synonomous? Precisely not!

Neither are the words *presumption* and *inference* synonomous.

Moreover, notwithstanding presumptions, inferences, etc., the *intent to kill* remains a necessary element for voluntary manslaughter. Instruction No. 11 fails to so include it; instead, the element voluntary stands alone with respect volition. This will not suffice.

In every crime, there must be an act and intent or criminal negligence. Involuntary manslaughter applies to the criminal negligence aspect of this fundamental law. But voluntary manslaughter requires the application of intent. The matter, really, is that elementary.

Intent. being somewhat syonomous with willful and designed, does not mean merely voluntary with respect to

voluntary manslaughter. It means more. In a penal sense it means with a bad purpose (Miller v. State, 3 Okla. Cr. 575, 102 P. 948), a free exercise of the will, done by design and with a purpose. (Murphy v. State, 31 Ind. 511, 513.) It means something more of determination to execute one's own will in spite and defiance of the law than voluntary. (State v. Alexander, S.C., 14 Rich. Law, 247, 254.) Malice aforethought necessarily includes the idea that murder was a result of the voluntary act of the defendant. (Vernon's Ann. C.C.P., Art. 410; Crutchfield v. State, 110 Tex. Cr. R. 420, 10 S.W. 2d 119, 120.)

Willfully means something more than a voluntary act, and more than an intentional act done with a wrongful purpose, or with a design to injure another, or one committed out of mere wantoness or lawfulness. (People v. Gillies, 109 N.Y.S. 945, 946; 57 Misc. 568.)

Voluntary manslaughter is committed suddenly (30 seconds: T. 190) and repels the supposition that it is the result of premeditation or a prearanged plan to kill, but necessarily involves the intention to deprive another of life. The design to kill is a distinguishing characteristic of voluntary and involuntary manslaughter. Although, of course, the act resulting in death must have been voluntary, the death itself must have been willful and intentional for voluntary manslaughter (I Wharton's Criminal Law and Procedure 582, 583.)

An essential of voluntary manslaughter is a *willful* and intentional killing, or the willful and intentional infliction of great bodily harm resulting in death. As is seen, the

court's given Instruction No. 11 wholly eliminated that essential and dominant element of voluntary manslaughter. (Cobo case, et al, supra.)

True, intent may be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon or (knife). In the court's given Instruction No. 11, the lower court spoke of a voluntary killing (not voluntary act of use of knife) but made no statement of what intent, as to injury to the victim or death to the victim, might be inferred from the use of that deadly weapon. There is danger in such an instruction. It tends ot lead the jury to believe that an intention to kill, as distinguished from an intention to do great bodily harm, of necessity, places the offense in the class of first degree murder, rather than manslaughter. (State v. Trujillo, .... U. .... 214 P.2d 634)

In the instant case, Yanes was killed voluntarily (T. 182) upon a sudden (T. 180, 181) quarrel (T. 182... Hello, Raul,"... in an angry voice.) or in the heat of passion (T. 183... scuffle...) with provocation such as would give rise to irresistible passion in the mind of a reasonable man. (State v. Calton, 5 U.451, 459, 16 P. 902, rev'd. on another point in 130 U.S. 83, 32 L.#d. 870, 9 S. Ct. 435) as we consider the beatings (T. 90, 91), fights (T.111) and guarrels (T. 111). The trial court thought same to be a jury question, or it would not have instructed on voluntary manslaughter (as it did not on involuntary manslaughter.)

Had the jury been properly instructed concerning the *intent*... the verdict might well have been less than murder in the second degree—reduced to at least voluntary

manslaughter—or even all the way to not guilty—had the state been put to its proper burden of proof requiring an *intent to kill* rather than a mere *voluntary act*, which could be simple or gross negligence . . . anything short of total loss of self control, really.

In circumstances where the court's instructions might lead to different results, the instructions are inherently defective and erroneous (*State v. Waid*, .... .U. ...., 67 P.2d 652) and constitute prejudicial error, dictating reversal of the judgment of the lower court.

#### POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPEL-LANTS' REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 1 ON DEFI-NITION OF KINDS OF EVIDENCE.

Mike Hoopiiana testified that he was an eye witness to the stabbing of the deceased (T. 182).

None of the other nineteen witnesses for the state, nor any of the seven witnesses for the Appellants, testifified directly of his own personal perception of any of the main facts to be proved.

It might be conceived that some of the testimony of Hoopiiana could be classified as being *direct* evidence; while, all other testimony and exhibits would be *circumstantial* evidence, from which the ultimate facts in dispute must be inferred if proved.

The above distinction between *direct* and *circumstan*tial evidence is sometimes drawn; however, in a more realistic sense, no evidence is admissible in a court of justice that does not depend more or less on circumstances for credit. (I Wharton's Criminal Evidence, 11, 12 and 13, fn. 19, citing (Comm. v. Harman, 4 Pa. 269.)

It is elementary that the jury is the trier of facts, which makes it apparent that it must deliberate on evidence. Consequently, for the jury to deliberate in a fair and meaningful manner to insure constitutional safeguards to those standing trial for their very lives for first degree murder, the trial court has the duty to instruct adequately the jury on the law applicable to the particular fact situation being tried and the required manner in which the jury must so conduct itself.

Necessarily, the court must instruct the jury with legal definitions of terms used, which includes the term *evidence*, and supply the jury (for its deliberation) with a ("Mapp to") guide for the application of those terms.

Notwithstanding that many of the trial court's instructions included such terms as evidence, circumstances, facts, inferences, presumptions and combinations of those et al, not only did the trial court fail to give the Appellants' Requested Instruction No. 1, which defined evidence and supported the Appellants' theory of defense, but also, the trial court failed to instruct at all with respect to this basically required principle of the law. Appellants' Requested Instruction No. 1 read:

#### INSTRUCTION NO. 1

You are instructed that evidence is of two kinds: direct and circumstantial. Direct evidence is

where a witness testifies of his own personal knowledge of the main fact or facts to be proved. Circumstantial evidence is proof of certain facts and circumstances in a certain case, from which the jury may infer other and connected facts which usually and naturally follow according to the common experience of mankind.

Circumstantial evidence is competent, and may be regarded by the jury in all cases. It should have its just and fair weight with you. You are not to fancy situations or circumstances which do not appear in the evidence. You are to make only those just and resonable inferences from the circumstances proved which the guarded judgment of a reasonable man would ordinarily make under like circumstances.

If, in connection with the other evidence before you, you have no reasonable doubt as to the defendants' guilt or the guilt of either defendant, you should convict them or him, whichever your deliberations dictate. But, if you entertain a reasonable doubt, you should acquit them or him, whichever your deliberations dictate.

To warrant a conviction on circumstantial evidence, each fact necessary to establish the guilt of the accused must be proved by competent evidence beyond reasonable doubt. And the facts and circumstances proved must not only be consistent with the the guilt of the accused, but they must be inconsistent with any other reasonable hypothesis or conclusion than that of guilt to product a moral certainty that the defendants, or either of them, committed the offense. If the facts of the case can be reasonably explained in a manner tending to establish innocence, even though they can be reasonably explained in a manner tending to establish guilt, then you must, as a matter of law, find the defendants' or either of them, not guilty. (3 Wharton's Criminal Evidence, 473-477).

Without the jury having adequate instruction from the trial court, how are the Appellants assured of their constitutional rights to due process to a fair and impartial trial by jury? Impossible! Without a common framework within which to function, there humanly results twelve scattered, self-satisfied minds (con)fused together in their attempt to determine the fate of the accused. Russian Roulette!

Let us for a moment illustrate just how very much of even Hoopiiana's testimony is of the nature of *circumstantial* evidence, rather than *direct*, as first impression would dictate, in an effort to show the need for such as the requested instruction to help the jury to decide what weight should be given different kinds of *evidence*, *presumptions*, *inferences*, *facts*, *circumstances*, etc.

Does any of the following excerpts from the testimony of Hoopiana indicate that he is testifying *directly* of his own preception as to the main facts to be proved? Of course not! Most of his conclusions are based on other circumstances or *inferred* from the facts not ultimate themselves to warrant proof of required elements.

... running footsteps from behind (T. 180, 181)... someone... (at the time I thought to be Ray) had a knife and told me to stay out of it (T. 181)...
... Another boy (T. 182)... at the time I didn't see his face (T. 183)... just a hat (T. 190), a derby (T. 206); not the only one Ted ever wore (T. 241); was wearing that very night at the El Prado Bar (T. 238); was wearing when he surrendered himself to the officers (T. 231); was taken as evidence (T. 231); was shown to me by the prosecuting

attorney to identify; *not* the one I saw the night of the stabbing (T. 190); was attempting to be suppressed (T. 241), but was finally admitted (T. 242, to save the prosecutor being called as a witness to prove right the very matter which he was so adamently resisting (T. 241, 242)...

- ... I thought it Ted ... said, "Hello, Raul," in an angry voice, scuffled and stabbed him in the heart (T. 182) ...
- ... I see the knife go into Raul's *chest*, I thought, three times. . . (T. 189)
- . . . didn't see how the *scuffle started* . . . lasted about 30 seconds . . . *around the corner* (T. 189)
- ... not too sure ... pretty scared ... didn't see what he did with the knife at all (T. 183) ...
- ... was drunk (T. 191—fifth of bourbon) ...
- . . . was just looking at four or five knives . . . kept my eyes on them *all* the time (T. 184) . . .
- ... not very good look ... took one glance ... that's all ... eyes on knives only (T. 189) ...
- as I moved sideways to *creep* out of there so as it wouldn't *excite* anybody, you know . . . kind of turned and walked slowly away, and then I looked over my shoulder, and they was standing there, about four or five guys standing around Raul. Then I went up to the Annex Bar . . . went in . . . stayed not more than a minute and a half or two minutes . . . then walked out the door and down the street (T. 184) . . . Raul was laying on his back . . . those *two guys* that walked *out* (of the Annex) was looking at him at that time. I walked by and looked at him (*appeared* dead . . . *yes*, sir) (T. 185) . . . I was *positive* he was dead (T. 184) . . . I got into my car and went *home*. (T. 185, 192, 193, 204, 205.)

-

Note Carefully! Last question and answer or cross examination (T. 192):

Q: Isn't it a fact, Mr. Hoopiiana, that rather than your leaving then and going home, that you, in fact, went to the *Blackhawk Lounge* for the purpose of establishing an *alibi* if you were asked your whereabout that night?

A. Uhm huh. I went out to the Blackhawk for a few minutes, yes.

Q: That is all.

... didn't volunteer any information at all... kept my mouth shut... I figured somebody else had seen it (T. 197)... I was positive he was dead (T. 204)... why should I get implicated if I didn't have to? (T. 197)

After all, Yanes was Hoopiana's friend (T. 204), whom he left—positively dead on the sidewalk—and just drove away—into the night to establish an alibi. (T. 192).

Why, of course, no need to get implicated—until have to. (. . . I figured somebody else had seen it (T. 197) . . . I could be charged with murder (T. \_\_\_\_\_)

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