Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

State of Utah v. Anastacio Gallegos and Juan Balles Gallegos: Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT THAT MANSLAUGHTER REQUIRED AN INTENT TO KILL SINCE

- A. THE JURY RETURNED A VERDICT OF SECOND DEGREE MURDER AND THE ERROR ON THE LESSER OFFENSE COULD NOT HAVE PREJUDICED.
- B. THE EVIDENCE DID NOT WARRANT AN INSTRUCTION ON MANSLAUGHTER.

The appellants in Point I of their brief challenge Instruction No. 11 (R. 346) given by the court on the crime of voluntary manslaughter. In State v. Cobo, 90 U.2d 89, 60 P.2d 952 (1936), this court ruled that one of the essential elements to the crime of voluntary manslaughter was that the killing be willful or intentional or that the infliction of great bodily harm be done willfully and intentionally. The Cobo case is somewhat inconsistent to the extent that at one point a disjunctive "or" is used and another point, conjunctive "and" is used when the elements discussed do not warrant the difference. Respondent admits that the trial court erred in Instruction No. 11 by failing to instruct that the killing must have been intentional or willful if the appellants were to be convicted of voluntary manslaughter. However, the respondent submits that the appellants were not prejudiced by the instruction that was given since (a) the appellants were convicted of murder in the second degree, which is a higher offense, and the jury must have necessarily found each of the elements required for the conviction of the crime of second degree; and (b) that the trial court erred in giving the instruction on voluntary manslaughter in the first instance since the evidence before the court could in no way justify the submission of the lesser offense of voluntary manslaughter to the jury.

A. It is well settled that an erroneous instruction on a lesser offense of the charge of homicide cannot be claimed as error on appeal where an accused is convicted of a greater charge. 26 Am. Jur., *Homicide*, Section 556, it is stated:

"Generally speaking, an accused cannot successfully complain of error in instructions which are favorable to himself. Consequently, one who has been convicted of a superior grade of culpable homicide is not to be deemed prejudiced by and cannot attack an erroneous charge in respect of a lower grade of homicide."

In 41 C.J.S., *Homicide*, Section 427c(2), it is stated:

"Ordinarily error in instructions relating to a lower degree of homicide or assault than that of which accused is convicted is held to be harmless, and whether or not it is prejudicial is controlled by the facts and the nature of the error. Such error generally is harmless where the erroneous instruction relates to manslaughter and accused is convicted of murder or murder in the first or second degree, or where the instruction relates to involuntary manslaughter and accused is convicted of voluntary manslaughter. Where accused is convicted of murder in the first degree, the giving of erroneous instructions on a lower degree of homicide is not prejudicial to accused where the evidence is ample to support the verdict rendered, and where the instructions complained of could not have misled or confused the jury or have had any effect on their verdict, or where the instruction is more favorable to accused than it should have been."

In *People v. Cox*, 341 Ill. 111, 172 N.E. 64 (1930), the accused was convicted of the crime of murder. On appeal, it was contended that two instructions given to the jury on involuntary manslaughter on the request of the prosecution were erroneous. The Supreme Court of Illinois, in rejecting the contention, stated:

"The plaintiff in error was found guilty of the major crime, and obviously he was not prejudiced by the instruction defining manslaughter."

In King v. The Commonwealth, 224 Ky. 822, 7 S.W.2d 228 (1928), the accused was convicted of murder. It was contended on appeal that the trial court erred in defining involuntary manslaughter. The Kentucky Court of Appeals ruled that the appellant could claim no prejudice stating:

"Instruction No. 3, defining involuntary manslaughter is criticized, but the instruction is not susceptible of the interpretation placed thereon by counsel for appellant; but, even if it were, it was not prejudicial, since he was convicted of murder under an instruction concededly proper."

In State v. Noel, 133 A. 274 (N.J. 1926), the appellant was convicted of murder in the first degree. He contended that the trial court erred in instruction given on murder in the second degree. The New Jersey court agreed, but found that he could claim no prejudice, stating:

"It is next insisted that the charge of the court was erroneous with respect to the definition of murder in the second degree. Admitting this to be so, it was not prejudicial to the defendant. The defendant was convicted of murder in the first degree. Murder in the first degree was properly defined in the charge. It therefore was immaterial whether murder in the second degree

was properly defined. The same question has arisen in two recent cases in this court where the definition of murder in the second degree was the same as that given by the court, in the present case. These are the cases of State v. Mosley, 131 A. 292 (not yet officially reported), and the case of State v. Martin, 132 A. 93 (not yet officially reported). In these cases this court held that no harm had been done to the defendant by incorrectly defining murder in the second degree."

In State v. Zupkosky, 127 N.J.L. 218, 21 A.2d 771 (1941), the appellant was convicted of murder in the first degree. Again the allegation was made that the trial court erred in its charge of murder in the second degree. The court ruled that no prejudice could arise from such an instruction. It stated:

"It is further contended that the court erroneously charged the jury upon the subject of second degree murder. The defendant, as we have already said, was convicted of murder in the first degree without recommendation, upon a charge with regard to the elements of that offense which we have found correct in the only respects questioned. The jury convicted the defendant of murder in the first degree, upon evidence that, without undertaking to review, we consider fully supports that finding. Further, the verdict, as we formally decide in the next paragraph, was not against the weight of evidence. Therefore, the judge's definition of murder in the second degree need not be examined or passed upon because, in the light of the jury's verdict, it could not have been harmful to the defendant. State v. Mosley, 102 N.J.L. 94, 131 A. 292, State v. Noel, 102 N.J.L. 659, 674, 133 A. 274. Even if we assume that point to be well made the error is not ground for reversal."

Recently, in *Connor v. State*, 225 Md. 543, 171 A.2d 699 (1961), the Maryland court was faced with a case where the appellant was convicted of second degree murder. He argued that it was err for the trial court not to distinguish between voluntary and involuntary manslaughter in instructions given to the jury. The Maryland court rejected any claim of prejudicial error stating:

"* * Secondly, although it appears that an instruction was given as to voluntary manslaughter (a higher grade than involuntary manslaughter), the jury found the defendant guilty of murder in the second degree, a finding which clearly indicates that the jury was convinced that the defendant was guilty of a greater degree of homicide than manslaughter of either grade. * * *"

In State v. Vanell, 106 P. 364 (Mont. 1910), the appellant, like the appellants in the instant case, was found guilty of murder in the second degree and claimed that the trial court has erred in instructing on manslaughter. The Montana court rejected a claim that the appellant could take advantage of the claimed error stating:

"* * Even so, the defendant cannot complain. He was found guilty of murder in the second degree, and these instructions upon the subject of manslaughter merely gave the jury an opportunity to find him guilty of a lesser offense. State v. Farnham, 35 Mont. 375, 89 Pac. 728."

In United States v. Ransom, 4 U.S.C.M.A. 195, 15 C.M.R. 195 (1954), the accused was charged with the crimes of murder and rape. He was convicted of the crime of premeditated murder and on appeal claimed that the trial court had erred in its instructions on unpremeditated

murder. The court, relying in part upon the authorities above quoted, stated:

"Inasmuch as the instructions on premediated murder were correct and the court found the accused guilty of that offense, he could not have been harmed by an incorrect instruction on the lesser included offense."

Similarly, in *United States v. Henderson*, 29 C.M.R. 717 (1960), the accused alleged that the trial court had given an erroneous instruction on intent as it related to the offense of unpremeditated murder. The trial court had found the appellant guilty of murder in the first degree. Relying upon the *Ransom* case, above mentioned, it was held that no prejudicial error could be claimed. See also *Kemp v. Canal Zone*, 167 F.2d 938 (1948); *Blalack v. State*, 60 S.W.2d 231 (Tex. Crim. 1933).

Although the issue was not clearly considered, in *State* v. *Matteri*, 119 U. 143, 225 P.2d 325 (1951), the court ruled that an erroneous instruction as to murder in the second degree could not be claimed as error under the circumstances. The opinion seems to imply clearly that the conviction on the charge of first degree under the facts presented vitiated any claim for prejudice.

The appellants in the instant case are in no position to claim error because of the erroneous instruction on involuntary manslaughter. The jury was carefully and correctly instructed on murder in the second degree and murder in the first degree. In order to convict of murder in the second degree, it was necessary for the jury to find an intent to inflict great bodily harm. The elements necessary for the conviction of murder in the second degree necessarily en-

compassed the elements in voluntary manslaughter. Therefore, the appellants cannot claim prejudice.

B. It is submitted that the error of the trial court in failing to instruct on the element of intent in the offense of voluntary manslaughter cannot be deemed prejudicial error since the appellants, as a matter of law, were not entitled to an instruction of voluntary manslaughter. The evidence discloses that the appellants' defense was based upon a question of identity. No evidence was offered before the court that the killing took place during a quarrel or in the sudden heat of passion. The facts in this case show that the deceased participated in the beating of one of the appellants, Ted Gallegos, which was a revenge beating for Gallegos having knifed one of the deceased's friends. The beating occurred on August 4, 1963. The appellant, Ted Gallegos, was taken to the hospital and treated. Ray Gallegos was not involved in the fracas. The police were notified and undertook an investigation. Thereafter, the Gallegos brothers, along with other companions, deliberately sought out the deceased and Dave Albo in order to get even. At the time of the killing, the deceased and Mike Hoopiiana were walking from the latter's automobile to the Annex Bar. Yanes had said nothing to cause a quarrel, he had done nothing to provoke the response which occurred on the morning of the 11th of August, 1963, some seven days after the beating. He was approached from behind, knocked down and knifed through the heart. It is submitted that, on these facts, there was no evidence warranting the submission of a charge of voluntary manslaughter.

Section 76–30–5, Utah Code Annotated 1953, defines voluntary manslaughter as being the killing of a human being without malice. Section 76–30–5(1) adds the following elements:

"Voluntary, upon a sudden quarrel or in the heat of passion."

In State v. Cobo, 90 Utah 89, 60 P.2d 952 (1963), this court observed as to the statutory definition, "This statutory definition is but declaratory of the common law." The court was manifestly correct in its conclusion. Clark and Marshall Crimes, 6th Ed., Section 10.11; Kenny's Outlines of Criminal Law, 18th Ed. (1962) Section 6. It is well established that if the circumstances show the killer acts not in the heat of blood but from malice, that no issue of manslaughter is raised. Clark and Marshall, supra, pages 620-21; 1 Hawkins, Pleas of the Crown, chapter 11, paragraph 18. Additionally, in *People v. Calton*, 5 U. 451, 16 P. 902 (1888), this court upheld an instruction on voluntary manslaughter which advised the jury that to reduce homicide to manslaughter on the grounds of passion or sudden quarrel, the provocation must be such that would give rise to an irresistible passion in the mind of a reasonable person. At common law, this provocation arose in four circumstances:

- 1. Violent assault.
- 2. Unlawful arrest.
- 3. A killing in mutual combat, provided no unfair advantages taken.
- 4. A killing by the husband of the wife's paramour upon the discovery of adultery.

(Clark and Marshall, supra, page 619).

In the instant case, the killing occurred in none of these circumstances. Although there was a previous assault on Ted Gallegos, the assault occurred seven days previous to the killing of Yanes. It is well settled that if the killing is done under circumstances which would show that the

"blood of the slayer had actually cooled" or that "there was reasonable time for such cooling," there can be no manslaughter. Clark and Marshall, supra, 619. In the instant case, the crime was done with malice and was done after there had been substantial opportunity for a cooling to occur. Indeed, the police had been notified and their investigation undertaken. Further, the evidence clearly shows there had been a cooling, so the killing was not done in passion but was done solely out of malice. Ray Gallegos was not the victim of an assault of any kind; and, therefore, could hardly claim the right to revenge against his brother's attacker. In Clark and Marshall, supra, page 632, it is noted:

"It is not necessary, however, in all cases, to show that the blood actually did cool, in order to make out a case of murder. It is enough to show that there was a reasonable time for cooling, for the law requires that men shall act reasonably in controlling their passions. The reasonable time for cooling is the time within which an ordinarily reasonable man would cool under like circumstances. * * * *"

The only evidence before the court in this case is such that no issue of manslaughter was raised.

In State v. Mitchell, 3 U.2d 70, 278 P.2d 618 (1955), this court considered, among other claims of error, the contention that the trial court erred in failing to instruct as to lesser included offenses where the defendant was convicted of second degree murder. The facts and circumstances in that case are somewhat similar to those in the instant case, although in that case it was not clear that the killing was done maliciously and that a reasonable period of cooling off had elapsed before the killing. This court held that the trial

court did not err in failing to instruct upon voluntary manslaughter. The court observed:

"* * * Aside from the incredibility of defendant's testimony as to his movements, whereabouts and other activities, with which one is impressed in reading the record, there is no evidence from which reasonable persons could conclude that the victim had died from a simple battery, affray, in a sudden heat of passion or otherwise than with malice aforethought or as a result of a murderous intent. Under such circumstances, instructions as to lesser offenses would only confuse. * * * *"

In 41 C.J.S., *Homicide*, it is stated:

"Where the evidence does not warrant the giving of any instruction on a certain degree of homicide lower than that of which accused is found guilty, the giving of an instruction on that lower degree, whether correct or incorrect as an abstract statement of law, is not prejudicial or reversible error. The rule is applicable where the unauthorized instruction relates to murder in the second degree and accused is convicted of murder in the first degree; or where the instruction relates to murder in the third degree and accused is convicted of murder in the second degree; or where the instruction relates to manslaughter and accused is convicted of murder; or where the instruction relates to involuntary manslaughter and the conviction is of voluntary manslaughter; or where the instruction relates to aggravated assault and the conviction is of assault with intent to kill * * * *"

See also Am. Jur., Homicide, Sections 558, 559.

In State v. Matteri, 119 U. 143, 225 P.2d 325 (1951), the appellant was convicted of first degree murder. The trial court instructed the jury on the crime of second degree

murder and left out the possibility of the killing occurring from an intent to kill. The court noted that unless the evidence was such that a jury could reasonably decide in favor of second degree murder, that it would not be prejudicial to fail to give the correct instruction. The court found that the evidence did not reasonably raise the issue of second degree murder and concluded that the instruction could not have been prejudicial. The court noted, in part:

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